## **ORIGINAL**

# ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

13

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

1

DONTE JOHNSON,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 36991

FILED

JUL 18 2001

CLERICOT SUBREME COURT
BY CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

(Appeal from Judgment of Conviction)

PHILIP J. KOHN
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
SPECIAL PUBLIC DEFENDER
Nevada Bar #0556
LEE-ELIZABETH McMAHON
Nevada Bar #1765
309 South Third Street, 4th Floor
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2316

Attorney for Appellant

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- The Trial Court Erred in Denying Appellant's Motion to Suppress Evidence Illegally Seized.
- The Trial Court Erred in Allowing the Prosecution to 2. Admit Prejudicial Evidence of Other Weapons.
- 3. Fundamental Fairness and Due Process Support Appellant's Claim that a Defendant Should be Allowed to Argue Last in the Penalty Phase of a Capital Case.
- 4. The Penalty Phase of Appellant's Trial Should Have Been Bifurcated Into Two Separate and Distinct Procedures.
- It Was Error for the Trial Court to Deny Appellant's Request for an Evidentiary Hearing Grounded Upon Allegations of Private Communication With a Juror and Possible Exposure of That Juror to Media Coverage of the Trial.
- It Was Error For the Trial Court to Deny the Motion for New Trial Where the Prosecutor Offered an Inconsistent Theory and Facts Regarding the Crime and When the Court Failed to Inquire Regarding the Circumstances of a Victim Family Member Being in the Restricted Area of the Jury Lounge.

SPECIAL PUBLIC

DEFENDER
CLARK COUNTY
NEVADA

- 7. The Three-Judge Panel Procedure For Imposing a Sentence of Death is Unconstitutional Under the Due Process Guarantee of the Federal Constitution Pursuant to the Precedent Set Forth by the United States Supreme Court in Apprendi v. New Jersey.
- 8. The Three-Judge Panel Sentencing Procedure is Constitutionally Defective.
- 9. The Absence of Procedural Protections in the Selection and Qualification of the Three-Judge Jury Violates the Appellant's Right to an Impartial Tribunal, Due Process and a Reliable Sentence.
- 10. Use of Nevada's Three-Judge Panel Procedure to Impose Sentence in a Capital Case Produces a Sentencer Which is not Constitutionally Impartial and Violates the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments.
- 11. The Statutory Reasonable Doubt Instruction is Unconstitutional.
- 12. The Trial Court Erred in Denying Appellant's Motion to Settle the Record Regarding Possible Failure of the Two Appointed Panel Judges to Read the Transcripts of the Guilt Phase of Appellant's Trial.
- 13. The Trial Court Abused its Discretion When it Held Fifty-Nine (59) Off the Record Bench Conferences Thus Depriving Appellant of a Complete Record For Purposes of Direct Appeal and Post-Conviction Habeas Relief.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about September 2, 1998, Donte Johnson, Appellant herein, was charged by Grand Jury Indictment with one (1) count of burglary while in possession of a firearm; four (4) counts of murder with use of a deadly weapon (open); four counts of robbery with use

of a deadly weapon, and four (4) counts of first degree kidnapping with use of a deadly weapon in violation of Nevada Revised Statutes, NRS 205.060, 193.165, 200.010, 200.030, 193.165, 200.310, 200.320, 193.165, respectively in connection with the shooting deaths of Matthew Mowen, Jeffrey Biddle, Tracey Gorringe, and Peter Talamantez which occurred in Las Vegas, Nevada on or about August 14, 1998.

On or about September 8, 1998, Appellant appeared before the Honorable Jeffrey Sobel, District Court Judge, Eighth Judicial District Court, Department V for initial arraignment in this case denominated C153154. The prosecutor advised the State will file a Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty. Prior to the court's canvassing of Appellant, defense counsel requested the matter be continued until the transcript of the grand jury proceedings were received.

On September 16, 1998, in open court, neither Appellant or counsel present, the prosecutor filed a superseding Indictment which added an additional charge; conspiracy to commit robbery and/or kidnapping and/or murder in violation of NRS 199.480, 200.380, 200.310, 200.320, 200.010, 200.030 respectively.

On September 17, 1998, Appellant appeared for continued arraignment, entered a plea of not guilty and waived the sixty day rule. The court granted counsel's request for twenty-one days from the file stamp date of the grand jury transcripts for filing of a writ.

On October 8, 1998, the trial court denied Appellant's motion to set bail.

On February 25, 1999, upon inquiry from the court, Appellant withdrew his proper person motion to dismiss counsel and appoint

NEVADA

outside counsel.

On March 23, 1999, Appellant filed a proper person motion with the court, seeking to have his counsel file the motions listed therein. Appellant also filed a motion a successive motion, in proper person, to dismiss counsel and appoint alternate counsel.

On April 12, 1999, with no deputy district attorney present, the court entertained Appellant's proper person motion to dismiss counsel and appointment of alternate counsel, and denied the motion.

On May 17, 1999, upon inquiry from the court, Appellant stated he wanted to withdraw his proper person motion to proceed with co-counsel and investigator.

On June 29, 1999, the trial court granted defense counsel's motion to continue trial grounded on recent evidence of a new confidential informant, and a new allegation of murder which resulted in counsel not being ready for trial.

On January 6, 2000, the trial court entertained an evidentiary hearing on Appellant's motion to suppress evidence. The court set a briefing schedule and continued the matter.

On March 2, 2000, the court issued its ruling on pre-trial motions pending. The court denied the following motions: Appellant's motion to argue last at the penalty phase, for disqualification from jury venire of all potential jurors who would automatically vote for the death penalty if Appellant found guilty of capital murder, disclosure of exculpatory evidence pertaining to impact of Appellant's execution upon victim's family members, prohibit use of peremptory challenges to exclude jurors who express concern about capital punishment, preclude evidence of alleged co-conspirator statements, disclosure of any disqualification of district attorney, to require

prosecutor to state reasons for exercising peremptory challenges, change of venue, to dismiss State's notice of intent to seek death penalty on ground Nevada death penalty statute, unconstitutional for inspection of police officer's personnel files, in limine for order prohibiting prosecutor misconduct in argument, in limine to prohibit any reference to the first phase as the "guilt phase", to apply heightened standard of review and care as State is seeking death penalty, in limine to preclude the introduction of victim impact evidence, to bifurcate penalty phase, in limine to prevent the State from telling complete story, Appellant's proper person motion to disqualify the court without prejudice.

The court continued the motion to suppress illegally seized evidence, refused to rule on the motion to authenticate and federalize all motions, objections, etc., continued the motion to preclude evidence of alleged co-conspirator statements, the motion in limine to preclude evidence of other guns, weapons and ammunition not used in the crime, the motion in limine regarding co-defendant's sentences; and in regard to the motion for discovery and evidentiary hearing regarding the manner and method of determining in which murder cases the death penalty will be sought the court directed the State to provide this information to defense counsel if it exists. The court granted the motion in limine to preclude evidence of witness intimidation. The court directed counsel to physically meet and agree upon jury instructions prior to trial.

On April 18, 2000, the court denied Appellant's motion to suppress evidence seized by police in a warrantless search.

On June 1, 2000, the court, after entertaining argument, denied Appellant's motion to preclude evidence of alleged co-

12

13

16

17

18 l

19

20

21

22

23.

24

25

26

conspirators statement.

2

3 |

4

9

11

12

13

15

16

17

18

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

On or about June 5, 2000, jury trial commenced before the Honorable Jeffrey Sobel, District Court Judge.

On or about June 9, 2000, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on all thirteen (13) counts.

On June 13, 2000, the penalty phase began. The jury began verdict deliberation on June 15, 2000; two notes were received from the jury that date. On June 16, 2000, a hung jury was declared.

On July 13, 2000, the court denied Appellant's motion for 10 a new trial.

On July 20, 2000, the court denied Appellant's motion for imposition of life without the possibility of parole as well as his request for a statistical analysis of how the two other judges for the three judge panel were picked.

On July 24, 2000, the three-judge panel assembled consisting of the Honorable Judges: Jeffrey D. Sobel, Michael R. Griffin, and Steve Elliot. On the record the prosecutor disclosed the inducement regarding Charla Severs and defense counsel stated his objection regarding the constitutionality of the three-judge panel. On July 28, 2000, the three-judge panel, having found that the aggravating circumstances or circumstances outweigh any mitigating circumstance or circumstances imposed a sentence of death as to counts XI through XIV, murder of the first degree with use of a deadly weapon.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### SYNOPSIS

The three bedroom single family residence located at 4825 Terra Linda in Las Vegas was occupied by Tracey Gorringe, age 21, Matthew Mowen, age 19, and Jeffrey Biddle, age 19. It was a party place for many young people where they would recreate, drink beer and use drugs.

On August 14, 1998, around 6:00 p.m. in the evening, Justin Perkins went to the Terra Linda residence. The gate to the yard was open and the door to the house was ajar. When Perkins pushed the door

open he saw Gorringe, Mowen and Biddle lying on the blood covered floor. Their hands were bound behind their backs with duct tape,

their ankles were bound. There was blood everywhere.

Perkins ran to the neighbor's house, 911 was called. Paramedics and the police arrived. The three young men were pronounced dead. The police in securing the crime scene found the deceased body of Peter Talamantez in the next room. Like the others, he was bound with duct tape, hands behind his back, ankles bound and blood about his head. Like the others, he had a gunshot wound in the back of his head.

The house had been ransacked. Crime scene analysts found that there was no forced entry into the home. Next to the bodies of each of the young men were their empty, opened wallets. No paper currency was found in the house.

In the front room was an entertainment center, the television askew, stereo shifted, patch cords hanging, no VCR, cords and miscellaneous items for a playstation, but no playstation.

CSA Grover lifted a fingerprint from a Black and Mild, three by five inch cigar box. Cigarette butts found lying near the deceased are collected and preserved. Four .380 empty cartridge cases were retrieved, each near the body of one of the victims as well as some bullet fragments.

The fingerprint found on the Black and Mild cigar box

matched those of Appellant, Donte Johnson. The DNA from the cigarette butts was also from Appellant.

The mother of Tod Armstrong owned, but did not reside in a home at 4812 Everman Drive, Las Vegas. This property was a few blocks from the Terra Linda residence. Tod Armstrong, Ace Hart and Bryan Johnson lived in the house. Armstrong, Hart and Johnson used drugs. In late July, early August, Ace Hart brought Appellant, Appellant's girlfriend, Charla Severs, and Appellant's Friend Terrell Young to the Everman house to stay.

The week prior to the homicides Matthew Mowen came over to the Everman residence and attempted to buy drugs from Appellant. Mowen said, in front of Appellant, Armstrong, Hart and Young that they made a lot of money while on tour with the Phish rock group by selling snack food and drugs.

Prosecution witness Charla Severs, Appellant's live in girlfriend at the time of these events, lived with Appellant at the Thunderbird and moved with him and Terrell Young to Tod Armstrong's house at the beginning of August. Appellant and Young brought a duffle bag with them to the Everman house. In the bag were handguns, rifles, duct tape and brown gloves.

According to Severs, late on the night of August 13/early morning of August 14th, Appellant and Terrell Young left the Everman residence with the duffle bag. Appellant was wearing black Calvin Klein Jeans. She was asleep when he returned, they had a VCR and a playstation, Appellant had approximately \$200 dollars and a pager. He tells her he killed somebody.

Severs, whose storey changed throughout the investigation had been brought back from New York on a material witness warrant and

2

3

5

10

13

15

16 l

17

18

20 |

21

23 |

24

26 l

27

10

11

13

14

16

17

18

19 l

20

21

22 |

23 l

24

25

27

28

who was held in custody for an extended period of time, said Appellant told her a boy was out watering the lawn at the Terra Linda house and he made him go inside at gunpoint. He was made to lay down on the floor where there was another boy laying. He and Young taped up the boys laying face down on the floor. A third person showed up and then a fourth. The third was made to lay down on the floor and was also taped. Appellant took the fourth person into the other room, hit him with the weapon and shot him in the back of the head. He said he shot four people.

Tod Armstrong, who showed Appellant and Terrell Young where Matt Mowen's house was saw the VCR, the playstation and a blue pager taken from the Terra Linda residence. Appellant told Armstrong about committing the murders when he returned to the Everman house.

On August 15th, the day after the homicides, Bryan Johnson and Ace Hart came over to the Everman house to get ready for a job interview. Ace Hart was living at Bryan Johnson's but his clothes were at the Everman residence. Appellant allegedly told them he committed the robbery and homicides at Terra Linda taking the money, the VCR, playstation and pager. Appellant and Young buried the pager in the back yard at the Everman residence.

On August 17th, Tod Armstrong, Ace Hart and Bryan Johnson are at the Johnson home. Bryan had an argument with his mother and his father called the police who responded to the residence. Johnson gave them a recorded statement regarding the homicides. Ace Hart gave a statement and Tod Armstrong gave a statement. Armstrong signed a consent to search form for the Everman residence.

The police go to the Everman residence at 3:00 a.m. on August 18th. The SWAT team enters the residence. Appellant, Charla

Severs and a third person are escorted out of the house and handcuffed with flexcuffs.

In the house the police see the VCR and playstation which they impound then find a Black and Mild cigar box in Appellant's belongings. In the master bedroom they find a duffel bag, guns and duct tape. They find a black pair of Calvin Klein jeans. On the back of the jeans, lower portion, Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department Sergeant Hefner sees eight blood droplets.

In the backyard of the Everman residence, the analyst sees an area that has recently been disturbed. He digs there and recovers two keys from the Thunderbird Hotel and a blue pager.

Lashawnya Wright was the live-in girlfriend of Sikia Smith; she knew Appellant and Terrell Young. She was released from jail on August 12th, 1998. On August 13, 1998, Young and Appellant came to the apartment Wright and Smith shared at the Fremont Plaza Hotel and visited with Smith. They had a duffel bag full of guns. Around 5:00 p.m., Young and Appellant leave. About two hours later they return and again visit with Smith. Much later the three of them leave together. Wright gave Smith her pager saying, "I'll page you if I need you tonight." She paged him throughout the night and Smith never returned the page.

Fourteen hours later, Smith came up the stairs. Appellant and Young remained at the bottom of the staircase. Smith is carrying a VCR and a playstation. Wright hears the three talking about what they had done and Appellant is saying he wants the VCR and pays Smith twenty dollars for it. Young and Smith both wanted the playstation and they argue. Later that day, she saw Smith with a .380 automatic, he sold it.

The next day Wright saw Appellant outside on the street. He stopped at a newsstand and bought the Saturday Review-Journal. The headline read, "Four young men slain in Southeast." Appellant said, "We made the front page" to Smith.

Prints taken from the bottom of the VCR impounded at the Everman residence matched those of Sikia Smith.

Each of the four young men died from a single gunshot wound to the back of the head from close range. Projectile pieces were removed from each skull. Ballistic expert Richard Goode concluded the cartridge cases, all four, were .380 all fired by the same gun. The .380 handgun was never found.

The Eight blood droplets on the black jeans were human blood; the blood of victim Tracey Gorringe. On the inside of the flap which covered the zipper of the black jeans, female epithelial cells were found. Semen was mixed in with the epithelial cells. The majority of the cells in the contaminated stairs were epithelial. DNA analysis of the semen cells returned positive to Appellant.

On June 9, 2000, the jury returned verdicts of count I - burglary while in possession of a firearm (felony) - guilty; count II - conspiracy to commit robbery and/or kidnapping and/or murder (felony) - guilty; count III, IV, V, and VI, robbery with use of a deadly weapon (felony) - guilty; counts VII, VIII, IX, X - first degree kidnapping with use of a deadly weapon (felony) - guilty; counts XI, XII, XIII, XIV - murder with use of a deadly weapon (felony) - guilty.

Penalty phase began on June 13, 2000. Jury deliberation commenced on June 15, 2000. Two notes were received from the jury. First:

What do we do if someone's belief system has changed to where the death penalty is no longer punishment under appropriate circumstances?

3

The answer from the court:

4 5

1

2

To the members of the jury, from Judge Jeffrey D. Sobel, I'm not permitted to answer your question.

6

The second note:

7

What happens if we cannot resolve our deadlock?

8

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20 21

22

23 24

25

26

27

28

On June 16, 2000, outside the presence of the jury, Following statements and argument regarding the jury notes. arguments, the court advised the jury foreperson would be brought into The foreperson identified the one closed courtroom and questioned. juror, number 7, who would not consider the death penalty. Juror number 7 brought into closed courtroom and questioned by the judge regarding the note and his feelings on the death penalty. The court ruled juror number 7 to stay on the jury.

The jury was assembled and questioned by the court regarding Jury requested to be allowed to continue second note. deliberations.

An additional note was received from the jury:

There does not We find ourselves stalemated. appear to be any possibility of movement by either side.

The court had the jury brought in and questioned the foreman The jury panel did not disagree. regarding the note. expressed the belief that additional instruction or clarification would assist them.

The jury recessed. Defense counsel argued to the court that the jury was not taking the **Bennett** instruction into consideration, that they could not consider life without and life with possibility of parole. The request was denied, as was a request for a BennettAllen charge hybrid.

The jury was recalled and a hung jury was declared.

The verdict, and special verdict forms were made court exhibits at the request of defense counsel.

The Appellant's motion for new trial was denied, as was the motion for imposition of life without the possibility of parole, or, in the alternative, motion to empanel jury for sentencing hearing and/or for disclosure of evidence material to the constitutionality of three-judge-panel procedure, and defense counsel request for a statistical analysis on how the two other judges were picked.

On July 24, 2000, the three-judge-panel assembled consisting of the Honorable Judges Jeffrey D. Sobel, Michael R. Griffin, and Steve Elliot. On July 26, 2000, the second day the judges retired to deliberate at 11:25 a.m. At 1:21 p.m., they returned their verdict having found aggravating circumstances outweighed any mitigating circumstances impose a sentence of death as to counts XI - XIV - murder of the first degree with use of a deadly weapon.

On October 3, 2000, the trial court denied Appellant's motion to set aside death sentence/or motion to settle record. Appellant was adjudged guilty of all counts and sentenced to the maximum term of incarceration on each count, all counts to run consecutive. A sentence of death was imposed on counts XI through XIV. The order of execution and warrant of execution signed and filed in open court, with an automatic stay of execution, timely notice of appeal was filed.

#### FACTS RELEVANT TO ISSUE ONE

Prior to trial, Appellant filed a motion to suppress

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