| 1 | IN THE SUPREME COUF | <u> T O</u> | F THE STATE OF NEVADA |
|----|---|-------------|---|
| 2 | | | |
| 3 | | | |
| 4 | | | |
| 5 | DONTE JOHNSON, |) | |
| 6 | Appellant, |) | |
| 7 | v. |) | CASE NO. 36991 |
| 8 | THE STATE OF NEVADA, |) | |
| 9 | Respondent. |) | |
| 10 | | | |
| 11 | | | |
| 12 | RESPONDENT'S SUPPLE | IME | NTAL ANSWERING BRIEF |
| 13 | Appeal From Ju | ıdgm | ent Of Conviction Court, Clark County |
| 14 | Eighth Judicial Dis | trict | Court, Clark County |
| 15 | | | |
| 16 | PHILLIP J. KOHN | | STEWART L. BELL |
| 17 | Clark County Special Public Defender Nevada Bar No. 0566 | | Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar No. 000477 |

ARGUMENT

Defendant challenges the constitutionality of NRS 175.556 and Nevada's sentencing structure of convening a three-judge panel when a jury is unable to reach a unanimous verdict upon the sentence to be imposed. At trial, Defendant based this argument on the United States Supreme Court case of Apprendi v. New Jersey 530 U.S. 466 (2000). In Apprendi, the judge sentenced a defendant to two years over the maximum sentence allowed for second degree murder after finding that the crime was motivated by racial animus. The finding of racial animus triggered New Jersey's "hate crime enhancement." The Supreme Court held that such a sentence violated the defendant's right to a jury determination that he was guilty of every element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. The Supreme Court later stated that if a state increases a defendant's authorized punishment contingent upon the finding of a fact, that fact--no matter how the state labels it--must be found by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. Ring v. Arizona, 122 S.Ct. 2428, 2430 (2002).

Subsequent to the Apprendi decision, the United States Supreme Court 15 decided <u>Ring v. Arizona</u> which held that a sentencing judge, sitting without a jury, 16 cannot find the aggravating circumstances necessary to impose the death sentence. 17 Id. at 2443. In that case, the defendant was convicted of first degree murder. 18 19 Pursuant to Arizona law, the trial judge sitting alone, determined the presence of aggravating circumstances. The judge then imposed the death penalty. The 20 21 Supreme Court found that the required finding of an aggravating circumstance exposed the defendant to a greater punishment than merely the jury's verdict alone. 22 The Supreme Court stated, "The dispositive question, we said, 'is one not of form, 23 but of effect." Id. at 2439 citing Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 494. The Supreme Court 24 25 continued, "A defendant may not be 'expose[d] ... to a penalty exceeding the maximum he would receive if punished according to the facts reflected in the jury 26 verdict alone."" Id. at 2440 citing Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 499. 27

28

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

DEFENDANT'S SENTENCE COMPLIED WITH THE HOLDING IN RING v. ARIZONA AND SHOULD NOT BE OVERTURNED Defendant argues that his sentence should be overturned because juries, not

I

judges, are the only proper body to evaluate the existence or non-existence of any
factors which specifically expose a person convicted of first degree murder to a
sentence of death. However, in the instant case, the jury found the existence of the
aggravating circumstances required for the imposition of the death penalty. These
aggravating circumstances were directly reflected in the jury's guilty verdicts for
the crimes charged. These verdicts necessarily required that the jury find the
existence of the aggravating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt.

12 The United States Supreme Court in Ring v. Arizona, 122 S.Ct. at 2443 overruled Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639 (1990), to the extent that Walton 13 14 allowed a sentencing judge, sitting without a jury, to find aggravating circumstances necessary for the imposition of the death penalty. Specifically, the 15 Ring decision says that the jury must find the existence of the fact that an 16 17 aggravating factor existed. Ring v. Arizona, 122 S.Ct. at 2445 (Scalia, J., 18 concurring). The Supreme Court stated, "Because Arizona's enumerated aggravating factors operate as 'the functional equivalent of an element of a greater 19 offense,'..., the Sixth Amendment requires that they be found by a jury." Ring v. 20 21 Arizona, 122 S.Ct. at 2430 citing Apprendi.

22 23

24

25

26

27

28

In its ruling, the Supreme Court relied extensively on its prior decision in Apprendi. The Supreme Court stated, "If a State makes an increase in a defendant's authorized punishment contingent on the finding of a fact, that fact--no matter how the State labels it--must be found by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. A defendant may not be exposed to a penalty *exceeding* the maximum he would receive if punished according to the facts reflected in the jury verdict alone." <u>Ring v.</u> <u>Arizona</u>, 122 S.Ct. at 2430.

I:\APPELLAT\WPDOCS\SECRETAR\BRIEF\ANSWER\JOHNSOND.SUP 5

3

1

2

1 In the instant case, Defendant's sentence rendered by the three-judge panel 2 directly reflected the facts found by the jury beyond a reasonable doubt. The three-3 judge panel found two aggravating circumstances warranting the death penalty for each of Defendant's first degree murder with use of a deadly weapon convictions. 4 5 (XIX ROA 4580) These were the first and third circumstances listed on the special verdict forms. These circumstances included: 6 The murder was committed while the person was engaged, alone or with others, in the commission of or an attempt to commit or flight after committing or attempting to commit, any robbery, arson in the first degree, burglary, invasion of the home or kidnaping in the first degree, and the person charged:

 (a) Killed or attempted to kill the person murdered;
 (b) Knew or had reason to know that life would be taken or lethal force used.

 7 8 9 10 3. The defendant has, in the immediate proceeding, been convicted of more than one offense of murder in the first or second degree. For the purposes of this subsection, a person shall be deemed to have been convicted of a murder at the time the jury verdict of guilt is rendered or upon pronouncement of guilt by a judge or 11 12 judges sitting without a jury. 13 The panel was unable to find the existence of the second circumstance, requiring 14 that the murder be committed to avoid or prevent a lawful arrest or escape from 15 16 custody, beyond a reasonable doubt. (XIX ROA 4580) The panel also found mitigating circumstances consisting of Defendant's age at the time of the crime and 17 a horrible childhood. (XIX ROA 4581) The panel specifically ruled that the 18 aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances. (XIX ROA 19 20 4580-81) 21 While Defendant claims that it was improper for the panel to determine the 22 existence of aggravating circumstances, the panel's findings were implicit in the jury's guilty verdicts. The jury's guilty verdicts required that the jury find the 23 24 existence of the same aggravating circumstances which were found by the panel. 25 With regard to the first aggravating circumstance, Defendant was convicted of four counts of first degree murder with use of a deadly weapon. (XIX ROA 4631-35) 26 27 In addition, Defendant was also convicted of four counts of robbery with use of a 28 deadly weapon; one count of burglary while in possession of a firearm; and four I:\APPELLAT\WPDOCS\SECRETAR\BRIEF\ANSWER\JOHNSOND.SUP 6

counts of first degree kidnaping. (XIX ROA 4631-35) Convictions for these crimes required that the jury find that a murder was committed while Defendant was engaged in the commission of a robbery, and/or burglary and/or kidnaping in the first degree. Thus, the first prong of the first aggravating circumstance was satisfied simply by the jury's verdicts.

As for the second prong, the jury's guilty verdicts and sentence
enhancements illustrate that these crimes were committed with the use of a deadly
weapon. (XIX ROA 4631-35) Even if Defendant did not actually fire the weapon,
the mere fact that these crimes were committed with the use of a deadly weapon
indicate that Defendant knew or should have known that life would be taken or
lethal force would be used. As such, the second prong of the first aggravating
circumstance was also satisfied simply by the jury's verdicts.

The facts constituting the third aggravating circumstance were also implicit in the jury's guilty verdicts. The third aggravating circumstance merely required that Defendant be convicted of more than one murder in the first or second degree in the immediate proceeding. In the instant case, the jury found Defendant guilty of four counts of first degree murder. (XIX ROA 4631-35) As such, the third aggravating circumstance was satisfied by Defendant's multiple murder convictions in the instant proceedings.

In conclusion, the elements of the aggravating circumstances, which were found by the three-judge panel, were implicit in the jury's verdicts. Had the jury not found the elements of the aggravating circumstances, it could not have returned the guilty verdicts for the crimes that it ultimately did. Therefore, the jury found the existence of the facts that constituted the aggravating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt.

27 28

26

1

2

3

4

| 1 | \mathbf{I} . The second se | |
|----|---|---------|
| 2 | THE THREE-JUDGE PANEL'S | |
| 3 | HARMLESS ERROR | : - |
| 4 | The United States Supreme Court in Ring refused to decide Arizona's | |
| 5 | argument asserting that any error was harmless because the judge's finding was | |
| 6 | implicit in the jury's guilty verdict. The Supreme Court stated that it normally | |
| 7 | leaves it to lower courts to pass on the harmlessness of error in the first instance. | |
| 8 | Ring v. Arizona, 122 S.Ct. at 2443, n.7. In the instant case and as argued above, the | |
| 9 | jury's guilty verdicts directly reflected the presence of the two aggravating | |
| 10 | circumstances found by the three-judge panel. The Supreme Court's failure to | |
| 11 | decide such an argument evidences its reluctance to extend Ring to the | |
| 12 | circumstances of the instant case. | |
| 13 | In addition, the defendant's claim in Ring was tightly delineated. The | - |
| 14 | defendant merely claimed that the Sixth Amendment required jury findings on the | |
| 15 | existence of aggravating circumstances. At no time did the defendant argue that the | |
| 16 | Sixth Amendment required the jury to make the ultimate determination whether to | |
| 17 | impose the death penalty. Ring v. Arizona, 122 S.Ct. at 2437, n.4. The defendant | |
| 18 | never suggested that jury sentencing is constitutionally required. Id. | |
| 19 | TH | |
| 20 | THE JURY FOUND THE EXISTENCE OF THE | |
| 21 | SAME AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES AS DID THE THREE-JUDGE PANEL AS EVIDENCED | |
| 22 | BY ITS SPECIAL VERDICT FORMS | |
| 23 | Defendant finds great significance in the jury's signed special verdict form | |
| 24 | which listed "no eyewitness to identity of shooter" as a mitigating circumstance. | |
| 25 | Defendant states that such a finding renders it unknown whether the jury found him | |
| 26 | to be the actual shooter in the murders. Defendant points out that the three-judge | |
| 27 | panel did not identify the same mitigator in its special verdict form as did the jury. | |
| 28 | | |
| | I:\APPELLAT\WPDOCS\SECRETAR\BRIEF\ANSWER\JOHNSOND.SUP 8 | |

According to Defendant, this supports his argument as it evidences the danger in abdicating factual determinations in criminal proceedings to judges.

While the jury and the three-judge panel may have found different mitigating circumstances as evidenced by their special verdict forms, Defendant has failed to include any reference to the similarities in the aggravating circumstances found by both the jury and the panel. The three-judge panel found the existence of the first and third aggravating circumstances as evidenced by its special verdict forms.³ Likewise, the jury found the existence of the first and third aggravating circumstances of the first and third aggravating circumstances of the first and third aggravating circumstances as evidenced by its special verdict forms.⁴ Likewise, the jury found the existence of the first and third aggravating circumstances as evidenced by its special verdict forms. However, the jury also found the existence of the second aggravating circumstance in all but one of the murder convictions.

The fact that the jury was unable to reach a unanimous verdict on the sentence to be imposed is irrelevant. The record reflects that one juror may have changed his view with regard to the death penalty at some point during the proceedings. On June 15, 2001, during the jury's penalty phase deliberations, the court received a note inquiring as to what they should do if someone's belief system has changed to where the death penalty is no longer an appropriate punishment under any circumstances. (XVII ROA 3930) The jury foreperson then confirmed that the note referred to only one juror. (XVII ROA 3974-75) After further deliberation, the jury was unable to reach a verdict and a hung jury was declared. (XVII ROA 4015-17) As such, the signed special verdict forms indicate that the jury all agreed as to the existence of the aggravating circumstances surrounding Defendant's crimes. These circumstances having been found present by the jury render the imposition of the death penalty appropriate. According to <u>Ring v.</u> Arizona, 122 S.Ct. at 2439; citing Apprendi, the dispositive question, "is one not of

³ The record reflects that at least Judge Sobel saw the jury's findings contained in its special verdict forms. (XVII ROA 4004)

form, but of effect." In the instant case, Defendant's sentence was in no way "effected" simply because the panel imposed his sentence.

IV

THE <u>RING</u> CASE DOES NOT RENDER THE THREE -JUDGE PANEL UNCONSTITUTIONAL

In it's amicus brief, the Nevada Attorneys for Criminal Justice ("NACJ") asserts 6 that Ring renders Nevada's three-judge panel sentencing scheme unconstitutional on 7 it's face. Such a reading of Ring is over broad and over expansive. As discussed 8 9 above, the <u>Ring</u> court determined that the Sixth Amendment right to trial by jury requires that a jury to find aggravating circumstances necessary for the imposition of 10 the death penalty. Ring, 122 S. Ct. at 2443. However, the Ring court held only that; 11 12 specifically acknowledging that the holding is narrowly tailored. <u>Ring</u>, 122 S. Ct. at 13 2437 fn. 4. Ring's only contention in his petition was that the Sixth Amendment required jury findings on the aggravating circumstances against him. Id. Ring did not 14 challenge the fact that prior convictions may be found by the court, even if the 15 maximum sentence is increased. Id. Ring made no claim regarding mitigating 16 circumstances, and did not argue that a jury was required to make the final 17 18 determination about whether to impose the death penalty. Id. Because both the claim and the holding in Ring are tightly delineated, Ring does not render Nevada's 19 20 three-judge panel system unconstitutional.

21

1

2

3

4

5

- 22
- 23
- 24

THE THREE-JUDGE PANEL SYSTEM DOES NOT VIOLATE EQUAL PROTECTION GUARANTEES

V

The Supreme Court has held that a statute which discriminates against a suspect 25 class or interferes with a fundamental right will survive an equal protection attack where it can be shown that the statute is narrowly tailored to advance a compelling 26 state interest. Kadrmas v. Dickinson Pub. Sch., 487 U.S. 450, 457-58, 108 S.Ct. 2481, 27 28 2487 (1988). The NACJ asserts that, because a defendant whose death verdict may be overturned on appeal can be considered to be a defendant who does not have a verdict, and because a defendant whose jury was not able to unanimously agree on a verdict of death also does not have a verdict, an equal protection violation has occurred between the two classes of defendants. The NACJ further contends that there is no rational basis for treating these so-called similar classes differently.

6 However, the statutes that sets forth the three-judge panel system itself separate the so-called classes of defendants. There are those who are amenable to three-judge 7 panel sentencing because they pled guilty and the State noticed its intent to seek the 8 death penalty; there are those who agreed to a bench trial and the State noticed its 9 10 intent to seek the death penalty; and there are those whose penalty juries were unable to come to a unanimous verdict upon the sentence to be imposed. NRS 175.556, 11 175.558. A defendant whose jury imposed sentence of death is overturned on appeal 12 was never amenable to a three-judge panel proceeding, but could become so if a newly 13 14 convened sentencing jury is unable to seek a unanimous verdict. Therefore, the NACJ has alleged an equal protection violation between disparate classes of people and their 15 equal protection argument does not stand. 16

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, the State respectfully requests that this Court dismiss Defendant's appeal.